
 1 

Solid Waste Board Minutes 
Park County, Montana 

April 18, 2013 
 
 
Attendance: Solid Waste Board (SWB) members Allen Carter, Robert Currie, Dennis 
Dodge, Mike Fanning, John Kaiser, Ernie MacCracken.  Also present were 
Commissioner Malone; Warren Newhouse II, refuse; Shannan Piccolo, civil deputy 
county attorney; Barbara Woodbury, environmental health; Dick Juhnke, citizen; John 
Mueller, minutes clerk 
 
Call to Order: @1:00 p.m., Chairman John Kaiser called a meeting to order in the 
Commission Chambers of the City-County Complex. 
 
Public Comment:  Citizen Ray Sundling said the issue of trash blowing onto his 
property from the county landfill is better than in the past.  He said he thinks refuse was 
not covered up every day in times when refuse recently blew onto his property.  Warren 
Newhouse II, interim refuse manager, said such was the case as the department had an 
employee out of work for 60 days, but he is back to work.  Sundling and John Kaiser said 
not covering refuse was unacceptable.  Sundling said the refuse should have been covered 
and he does not enjoy coming to SWB meetings to discuss the issue.  He said he would 
be jailed if the situation were reversed and he let his refuse blow onto county property.  
He said refuse was lying on the hillside that day.  Sundling said Newhouse was not doing 
his job as refuse manager. 
 
Kaiser said policy had already been set by the board there are to be no blowables at the 
landfill, whatsoever.  
 
Review of Minutes:  The board reviewed minutes for the March 21, 2013, meeting.  
Dennis Dodge moved to approve the minutes.  Ernie MacCracken seconded the motion.  
Motion passed. 
 
Manager’s Report

 

:  Newhouse provided a written report of refuse department activities.  
He said Full Circle Recycling recently recycled cardboard, but had not yet submitted a 
quote for countywide recycling services.  Kaiser asked Newhouse to get a price for steel 
to be picked up from the county, and a price for the county to take it to a recycler. 

Commissioner Malone said the accounting department had taken over distribution of 
refuse tags.  He said a resolution needed to be passed to finalize the county refuse 
assessment fee schedule.  Malone said the county would conduct research on what 
entities do, do not, should be and should not be assessed refuse and present it to the SWB 
for approval. 
 
Newhouse said the refuse department was considering a designated box at Chico for 
furniture and demolition waste.  He said a refuse pup trailer was purchased for $26,750.  



 2 

One employee had passed his CDL test.  Newhouse is scheduled to take his test the 
following week. 
 
Commission Report

 

:  Bob Currie read into the record a written report as prepared by 
Commissioner Tinsley.  Four Corners Recycling – no quote received; landfill closure:  
DOWL HKM should have a letter/report to the county by the end of week; pup trailer 
purchased; refuse tag distribution moved to finance department and that department will 
research assessments; the county is starting to go through department budgets; Tinsley 
had not talked to MRL yet about transfer station options; the Gardiner Airport site is 
moving along as a roll-off site and the county needs to meet with Montana  FWP to 
present plans.  The next step is to seek approval from the Airport Board. 

Business 
 
1. Discussion/Decision on Landfill Blowables; Hours of Operation as of July 1, 2013

 

:  
Kaiser said Newhouse needs to remain in closer contact with Sundling regarding 
blowables reaching Sundling’s property.  Newhouse said signs are erected at the landfill 
warning dumpers of being fined if blowables are in loads. 

Allen Carter moved to instruct Clay Williams to make it known to PCRFD#1 it cannot 
demolish a car at the landfill as part of training - it must be moved offsite to avoid 
blowable problems with Sundling.  Also, no car can be taken to the landfill in a condition 
where blowables can blow from the vehicle.  Dennis Dodge seconded the motion.  Motion 
passed. 
 
Allen Carter moved all roll off boxes in the county from collection sites, and all refuse 
inside the boxes, go to the city in order to eliminate blowables at the landfill.  Only 
concrete, tires, asbestos, animal parts and cars go to the landfill.  Bob Currie seconded the 
motion.  Motion failed. 
 
Allen Carter moved the county take all roll off boxes from the county to the city to 
eliminate any roll off boxes going to the landfill.  Dennis Dodge seconded the motion.  
Motion passed.  Ernie MacCracken vote in opposition to the motion. 
 
Hours of Operation:  The landfill is currently open three days a week - Tuesday, 
Thursday and Saturday and will remain open those days as of July 1.  Kaiser said the 
board needs capping cost information from DOWL HKM in order to make landfill 
management decisions. 
 
2. Discussion/Decision on Actual Tire Cutting Costs

 

:  Newhouse provided tire cutting 
costs using the Chico refuse site, a 40-yard container holding 250 car tires at 50 miles 
roundtrip and 5 miles per gallon, not trailering = $0.27 per tire = a $0.75 cutting cost for a 
total of $1.02 to get the tire to the landfill.  He said trailering equates to a total of $0.99 
cents per tire. 



 3 

Carter asked for an estimate of cutting tires at the Chico site and disposing of them in the 
green boxes there, which would be dumped at the city.  The SWB said it would entertain 
a presentation from a tire bailer operation as proposed by Newhouse.  Currie said a 
disposal option exists where an employee need not ever touch a tire at a cost of $2 per 
tire. 
 
Bob Currie moved for Dick Juhnke to proceed to demonstrate tire cutting at the landfill 
and pay the necessary environmental cost data on such test on county-owned tires.  
Dennis Dodge seconded the motion.  Motion passed. 
 
3. Discussion/Decision on County Collection Sites - Ownership, Leases, Tradebacks

 

:  
Tabled  

4. Discussion/Decision on Concerned Citizens Lawsuit vs. Park County - Legal Update

 

: 
Civil Deputy County Attorney Shannan Piccolo said meeting the settlement agreement of 
the second lawsuit resolved the original lawsuit.  The County Attorney’s Office considers 
the county’s decision to take all refuse to the city of Livingston as the end of the 
settlement issue. 

5. Discussion/Decision on Chico “Test Site” as a Proven System of Collection

 

: 
Newhouse said the site was averaging seven tons per box at the site and compaction was 
occurring almost every day.  Newhouse said the site was working and the department 
would continue to make it work. 

Bob Currie moved to accept Chico as a commercial site in terms of county collection and 
refer to it as a complete, commercial site with test parameters proven, subject to ascetic 
touch-ups, such as seeding.  Allen Carter seconded the motion.  Motion passed. 
 
Carter said a fence needs to be erected at the Chico site with springtime arriving.  He said 
he would volunteer use of machinery if board members would assist in erecting the fence.  
Carter proposed burning of brush at the Chico site.  Barbara Woodbury, environmental 
health, said the county would have to apply for a burn permit through Montana DEQ in 
order to do that.  Carter said he would draft a sketch of a proposed burning area/apparatus 
to be approved by Paradise Valley Fire Department and Montana DEQ. 
 
6. Discussion/Decision on Guidelines/Bylaws Amendment

 

:  Kaiser provided board 
members with a copy of existing board bylaws.  Piccolo said she reviewed guidelines as 
proposed by the board at its previous meeting.  Kaiser said items of interest in the 
proposed guidelines are:  selection of board members, setting of meeting agendas and 
addressing reimbursement of board member expenditure invoices.  Kaiser said the 
appropriate action is for the board to amend its bylaws, thus there was no need to adopt 
guidelines.  Kaiser said the board could review and accept fee reimbursement requests for 
mileage or materials purchased at board meetings and then send them on to the finance 
department. 



 4 

Piccolo said board members can be reimbursed for mileage to attend board meetings per 
statute, thus such a reimbursement request does not need to be voted on.  She said board 
members cannot take on debt for the county, so a proper way to reimburse board member 
expenses for special projects is for the board to vote in advance of the 
effort/action/purchase in a public meeting.  She said such eliminates an issue of a board 
member going off on his/her own and incurring debt without board knowledge or 
approval. 
 
Currie said, as an example, CTA Engineering was putting together drawings at the 
request of Commissioner Malone, so Currie met with CTA as a member of the board per 
responsibility to MACo as it pertains to the Gardiner refuse site.  He said the work came 
up quickly, it made no sense for CTA to spend more time than necessary on the MACo 
requirements since he had the expertise in that area, and he submitted a mileage 
reimbursement request as he was working at the request of the commissioners.  Piccolo 
said that reimbursement request is fine, as the work was done per request of the 
Commission.  She said the board could opt to appoint a board member liaison for a large 
project in order to assist in the process of the board addressing efforts that need to be 
made as they come up, and that individual would report back to the board on efforts.  
Currie said such would be burdensome, and he would not have met with CTA had it not 
been in the best interest of the board and county.  Piccolo said the board should be 
proactive and appoint a liaison to such projects in the future, which would eliminate the 
need for the liaison asking the board for permission before every activity.  Currie said 
nothing was purchased and he was only asking for mileage reimbursement.  He said he is 
on a fixed budget and he does not need to spend his gas money supporting the county.  
Piccolo said a board member can submit a mileage reimbursement for such an activity, 
but her point is that members needs to have approval from the board or the Commission 
to do the work in the first place.  Currie said work he completed at Chico was done at the 
request of Malone, who was present when the work was done. 
 
Piccolo said as an administrative function the Commission should discuss such directives 
to board members at its morning meetings.  Currie said he would keep doing about what 
he had been doing until someone tells him it is wrong.  He said he had not spent one 
gallon of gas not associated with county activity.   
 
Kaiser said he would email board members a draft agenda a week prior to meeting days 
for member input.  Kaiser tabled a decision on the proposed guidelines. 
 
7.  Discussion/Decision on Collection Upgrade at Gardiner Collection Site:  Carter 
presented an aerial photograph of the Gardiner green box site as provided by Newhouse.  
Currie said Malone authorized CTA to create an improved sketch above that distributed 
by Carter of a proposed upgrade to the Gardiner green box site to create a z-wall system 
similar to the new Chico site.  He said the bear coalition provided input to the design and 
had asked for an industrial, eight-foot chain link perimeter fence.  Currie said he was 
helping CTA with flappers, safety posts and other aspects of building around the boxes, 
as well as MACo and access issues.  Currie said Malone authorized CTA to send the 
design to the bear coalition for that entity’s comments, which would report back to CTA.  



 5 

He said that is why the design was not available at the present time to view.  Dennis 
Dodge asked what would become of previously discussed disposal options at the site.  
Currie said the proposed design was a draft, in part to determine how the bear coalition 
would receive it.  Currie said Malone wanted only one proposal to present to the Airport 
Board. 
 
Other Items: None 
 
Discuss Next Meeting Agenda:  No discussion 
 
Next Meeting Date:  No discussion 
 
Public Comment:  None 
 
Adjourn: @3:31 p.m., the meeting adjourned. 
 
 
 
 


